90811-7

FILED
September 4, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. \_\_\_\_ COA NO. 69601-7-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner

٧.

MATTHEW A. HAMPTON,

Respondent



### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

### **

### III. ISSUE

What standard governs the trial court's exercise of discretion in deciding a continuance motion made near the day of trial for the purpose of substituting counsel?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of the rape charge are adequately outlined in the State's response brief in the Court of Appeals and in the Court of Appeals decision, and therefore will not be summarized here. The defendant was arraigned on one count of indecent liberties on May 9, 2012. 2 CP 100. Omnibus was set for June 7, 2012 and trial was set for July 13, 2012. Id. An omnibus hearing was held on June 15, 2012. 3 CP 101-102. On that date the parties confirmed

trial for July 13, 2012. <u>Id</u>. On July 13, 2012 the trial court approved an agreed trial continuance to August 31, 2014. 2 CP 99.

On August 31, 2012 the defendant appeared with appointed counsel Mr. Wackerman, and with Ms. Goykman, an attorney he sought to retain. The court granted the motion to substitute counsel but called for argument on the continuance motion. Ms. Goykman clarified that her motion to substitute as counsel was conditioned on the court granting the defendant's motion to continue the trial date. 8/31/12 RP 2.

After weighing the reasons for the continuance motion, and the State's reasons for objecting to the continuance the trial court denied the motion to continue. The trial court noted that the matter had been continued at least once before and it had not been given any reason why the defendant would be prejudiced if the trial were not continued. The court said that it would reconsider the motion if pretrial interviews were not accomplished before the trial actually commenced the following Wednesday. 8-31-12 RP 7-8. As a result of the court's decision Ms. Goykman did not represent the defendant at trial.

The Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction for third degree rape on the basis that the trial court erroneously

denied the defendant his Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice when it denied his motion to continue to accommodate substitute counsel. The Court had previously articulated four factors a trial court could consider when ruling on a continuance motion to obtain new counsel in State v. Roth, 75 Wn. App. 808, 825, 881 P.2d 268 (1994). The Court concluded that two of those factors, the reasons for dissatisfaction with counsel and the degree of prejudice the defendant would experience if the motion were denied, were no longer valid in light of United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006). It found the trial court misattributed the first factor, whether there had been previous continuances. The court acknowledged that a trial court may deny a continuance to obtain substitute counsel when to do so would unduly delay the proceedings, but criticized the trial court for not asking Ms. Goykman how much time she sought to prepare. Slip Opinion at 12-21.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH OTHER COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS, INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION, AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE COURT.

A petition for review will be accepted by this court only if one of four circumstances are present; (1) the decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) the decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) it involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States, or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). The State asks the Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals because review is justified under RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3) and (4).

1. The Decision Conflicts With Other Decisions Of The Court Of Appeals Creating Different Standards For Trial Courts To Apply When Ruling On Continuance Motions To Obtain Substitute Counsel.

The defendant in this case sought a continuance on the day of trial to obtain substitute counsel. In prior cases, all three divisions of the Court of Appeals applied a four-part standard to resolve this issue. The trial court applied that standard in the present case.

Division One then held that applying this standard was an abuse of discretion.

This decision places trial courts in an impossible situation. According to two divisions of the Court of Appeals, they should apply a four-part standard. According to Division One, doing so is an abuse of discretion. This court should grant review to resolve that conflict.

The United States Supreme Court considered whether a trial court's decision to deny a motion to continue in order to obtain substitute counsel violated a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice in <u>Unger v. Sarafite</u>, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S.Ct. 841, 11 L.Ed.2d 921 (1964). The Court recognized that whether a defendant should be granted a continuance is dependent on the circumstances presented to the court. The trial court has wide discretion to grant or deny a continuance, and the reasons proffered for the continuance determine whether the defendant's due process right had been violated or not. <u>Id</u>. In <u>Unger</u> the Court found no violation when it considered the number of continuances previously granted, the delay by the defendant in hiring counsel, the complexity of the case, availability of witnesses and other

evidence, and the timing of the motion to continue when the court denied a continuance motion. <u>Id.</u> at 590.

Several factors relied on by the court in <u>Unger</u> were factors considered by all three divisions of the Court of Appeals when faced with the question of whether denying a motion to continue resulted in a violation of a defendant's right to counsel of choice. In <u>Early</u>, a Division III case, the court found no abuse of discretion when it denied the defendant's continuance motion to retain new counsel. <u>State v. Early</u>, 70 Wn. App. 452, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), <u>review denied</u>, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994). The court observed that the defendant had been granted prior continuances, appointed counsel was prepared to try the case and witnesses were ready, the State's relationship with a witness was "tenuous" suggesting that a delay would prejudice the State, and the defendant had not exercised diligence in trying to retain new counsel. <u>Id</u>. at 458-459.

In <u>Roth</u> Division I stated that courts have recognized many factors when determining whether a denial of a continence unjustifiably interferes with the right to counsel of choice. <u>Roth</u>, 75 Wn. App. at 825 <u>citing</u> 2 Wayne R. LaFave & Jerold H. Israel, <u>Criminal Procedure</u>, §11.4 at 39-40 (1984). Under the circumstances presented in <u>Roth</u> the court found four of those

factors "strongly supported the court's exercise of discretion" when it denied the motion to continue to allow one of the defendant's two attorneys to be present for voir dire; (1) whether the court had granted previous continuances at the defendant's request, (2) whether the defendant has some legitimate cause for dissatisfaction with counsel, (3) whether available counsel is prepared to go to trial, and (4) whether the denial of the motion is likely to result in identifiable prejudice to the defendant's case of a material or substantial nature, Id. at 825.

In <u>Price</u>, a Division II case, the Court relied on the same four factors Division I relied on in <u>Roth</u> to find the trial court had not abused its discretion when it denied the defendant's continuance motion to retain new counsel when the motion was made on the second day of trial and the defendant had not yet found an attorney to represent him. <u>State v. Price</u>, 126 Wn. App. 617, 632-633, 109 P.3d 27, <u>review denied</u>, 155 Wn.2d 1018 (2005).

Here the Court of Appeals relied on Gonzalez-Lopez to invalidate two factors relied on by Roth and Price; whether the defendant had some legitimate dissatisfaction with counsel and whether the defendant would be prejudiced if a motion to continue was denied. The decision creates a new standard which

substantially limits what trial courts may consider when ruling on a continuance motion made near the day of trial for the stated purpose of obtaining substitute counsel. Because it limits what a trial court may consider, whereas other decisions place no such limitation on a trial court, the decision of the Court of Appeals creates confusion as to what standard should apply. In order to clear up that confusion this Court should review the decision of the Court of Appeals so it may have the opportunity to articulate a single clear standard for trial courts to follow when asked to rule on late continuance motions.

## 2. The Decision Involves A Significant Question Of Law Under The Constitutions Of The United States And Washington.

The Court of Appeals decision rests largely on its reading of the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>. Its reasoning was faulty however for two reasons. First, unlike here, that case did not involve a request for a continuance in order to obtain counsel of choice. Second, the question in <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> was not whether the defendant had been erroneously deprived of his right to counsel, but what was the remedy should such deprivation occur. <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. at 144.

In Gonzalez-Lopez the trial court denied the defendant his right to counsel of choice when it denied counsel's motion for admission to the bar pro hac vice at a pretrial evidentiary hearing, and every time counsel renewed the motion thereafter. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 142-143. Here the trial court did not deny the defendant's motion to substitute Ms. Goykman for Mr. Wackerman. Ms. Goykman's motion to substitute was conditioned on whether the trial court would grant the defendant a continuance. 8/31/12 RP 2. A defendant is not entitled to representation by an attorney who is unwilling to represent him. Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed.2d 140 (1988).

Different constitutional provisions govern these two circumstances. Where it has been established that a defendant has been erroneously denied his right to counsel of choice the question of remedy is evaluated under the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. In that circumstance it is not enough that the defendant was represented by competent counsel. <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. at 146. Rather the Sixth Amendment right to counsel requires that the defendant "be represented by the counsel he believes to be best." <u>Id</u>.

In contrast where a court's ruling on a continuance motion effectively precludes a defendant from having a particular attorney represent him, whether he has been erroneously denied the right to counsel of choice is evaluated under the Due Process clause. Unger, 376 U.S. at 588-589. Where a defendant's counsel of choice conflicts with a court's discretionary power to deny a continuance courts apply a balancing test to determine if the trial judge acted fairly and reasonably. Courts have considered many different factors when assessing whether a trial judge acted within constitutional limits in denying a continuance motion.

Notably the Court did not retreat from its earlier decisions giving the trial court discretion to control its calendar even when that meant the defendant was not represented by the attorney he preferred. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 151-152. The Court has long recognized that trial courts routinely face challenges scheduling trials so that all the parties, including witnesses, lawyers, and jurors, are available to hear a matter. Morris v. Slappy, 461 U.S. 1, 11-12, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed.2d 610 (1983). For that reason trial courts are given broad discretion on matters of continuances. Id. A trial court abuses its discretion in denying a

continuance motion only when that decision "so arbitrary as to violate due process" <u>Unger</u>, 376 U.S. at 589.

In this regard the Court stated "there are no mechanical tests for deciding" whether a trial court abused its discretion. Id at 589. In addition to scheduling considerations and the factors outlined in Unger and Roth, the interests of the victim are a relevant factor to take into account. Slappy, 461 U.S. at 14. Last minute, undue delay "would hardly encourage victims to report violations to the proper authorities." Id. For a list of other factors courts have considered see 3 Wayne R. LaFave, Jerrold I. Israel, Nancy J. King, and Orin S. Kerr, Criminal Procedure, §11.4(c) at 718-720.

The Court of Appeals relied on the Supreme Court's Sixth Amendment analysis in <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> when it concluded that a trial court may not inquire into the reasons the defendant is dissatisfied with his current counsel or what prejudice the defendant may experience if the motion is denied. Slip opinion at 15. Instead the Court of Appeals found, regardless of the circumstances, these inquiries were irrelevant because a defendant is entitled to be represented by the counsel he believes to be best. <u>Id</u>. This conclusion is erroneous because it bypasses the Due Process analysis previously employed by the Supreme Court and numerous

other courts which have considered the competition between a defendant's interest in his right to counsel of choice and the court's interest in the fair and orderly administration of justice. One court continued to find the reasons for dissatisfaction with counsel was a relevant consideration in this context even after <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>. <u>Miller v. Blacketter</u>, 525 F.3d 890, 896 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008). Whether the considerations the Court of Appeals found invalid have survived <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> is a significant question of law under the constitutions of the United States and Washington.

# 3. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Involves An Issue Of Public Interest That Should Be Decided By The Supreme Court.

Every member of the public who has business with the court is affected by the court's schedule. A continuance may affect a parties' ability to fully present its case, such as where a parties' relationship with a necessary witness is "tenuous." <u>Early</u>, 70 Wn App. at 458. It may also affect the right of other defendants awaiting trial who may be prejudiced if the continuance is granted. <u>United States v. Kikumura</u>, 947 F.2d 72, 78 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1991). For that reason reviewing courts have afforded trial courts considerable discretion in weighing the competing interests of the parties when

considering a continuance motion that may result in denying a defendant his counsel of choice.

The Court of Appeals decision limits the scope of what a trial court may consider when deciding a continuance motion for the stated purpose of obtaining a new attorney. This limitation has the effect of inviting abuse of the justice system. If a trial court may not consider a defendant's reasons for seeking new counsel or whether the defendant would be prejudiced if his motion is denied then there is nothing that would inhibit a defendant from seeking new counsel at the last minute solely for the purpose of delay.

Like this case the defendant may simply justify his late request to substitute counsel by explaining that family recently offered to pay for an attorney. That may be an invalid reason however because the defendant controls when he asks others for funds to hire counsel. In a case similar to this one the Ninth Circuit found no abuse of discretion when a trial court denied a day of trial motion to substitute retained counsel where the defendant's father only offered to pay for an attorney the day before trial. Miller, 525 F.2d at 898.

Here the record could fairly be read to suggest that the defendant waited to move for substitution of counsel until the day of

trial solely for the purpose of delaying the trial. The defendant knew from the outset that he and his assigned public defender did not have "the best relationship." 8/31/12 RP 4. He discussed that situation with his public defender and alternatives in order to obtain substitute counsel, but ultimately decided to proceed with his public defender. Id. The defendant was originally arraigned on May 9, 2012. 2 CP 100. He had at least one hearing between arraignment and the trial date. 2 CP 99. The defendant did not seek to substitute retained counsel until 114 days after arraignment. In the interim the defendant's son had been interfering with the State's case by attempting to talk the victim out of cooperating. 8/31/12 RP 6. From this record the trial court could have concluded that the defendant's delayed request to substitute counsel was a ploy to buy more time to see if the victim would ultimately refuse to cooperate.

The Court of Appeals decision would preclude the court from inquiring into factors that had previously been relevant to balance the interests of the defendant against the interests of the administration of justice. This limitation creates the opportunity to interfere with that administration. Whether that limitation is dictated

by United States Supreme Court precedent therefore raises an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide.

### VI. CONCLUSION

Because trial courts have a duty to manage trial calendars to ensure that trials are held at a time when all parties are able to be present trial courts have been given broad discretion to rule on continuance motions. The Court of Appeals decision in this case limits that broad discretion. As such it conflicts with decisions from the Court of Appeals. It also presents a significant question of law under both state and federal constitutions. Because every litigant is affected by a trial court's ruling on a continuance motion, whether a trial court's discretion must be limited based on precedent from the United States Supreme Court is an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. For those reasons the State asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals.