Supreme Court No.: 90811-7 Court of Appeals No.: 69601-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner/Cross-Respondent,

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 06, 2014, 3:42 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

v.

MATTHEW HAMPTON,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW/CROSS PETITION

KATHLEEN A. SHEA Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

ORIGINAL

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. The State has failed to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), or (4).

The Court of Appeals carefully analyzed and applied the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. 140, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006), to conclude that two of the factors in a balancing test it developed twenty years ago, and this Court never adopted, are invalid given the nature of the Sixth Amendment right to select counsel of one's choice. The State asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision has created "confusion" as to what test applies, that the Court of Appeals' reliance on Gonzalez-Lopez involves a significant constitutional question, and that the decision raises an issue of substantial public interest

because motions to continue are so common in litigation. The State's claims are unavailing. The petition for review should be denied.

a. The Court of Appeals' decision properly incorporates United
States Supreme Court precedent into its previously established
balancing test for determining whether a continuance should be
granted in order to facilitate the substitution of a defendant's
retained counsel of choice for present counsel.

In <u>State v. Roth</u>, the court examined whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied the defendant's request for a continuance in order to allow the defendant to be represented by his counsel of choice. 75 Wn. App. 808, 823, 881 P.2d 268 (1994). It found the court's exercise of discretion was strongly supported by an appraisal of the following factors:

(1) Whether the court had granted previous continuances at the defendant's request; (2) whether the defendant had some legitimate cause for dissatisfaction with counsel, even though it fell short of likely incompetent representation; (3) whether available counsel is prepared to go to trial; and (4) whether the denial of the motion is likely to result in identifiable prejudice to the defendant's case of a material or substantial nature.

<u>Id</u>. at 825. The Court of Appeals then relied on these same factors to find the trial court properly denied the defendant's request for a continuance in order to obtain his counsel of choice in <u>State v. Price</u>, 126 Wn. App. 617, 632-634, 109 P.3d 27 (2005).

Following the court's decisions in Roth and Price, the United States Supreme Court closely examined the Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice in Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 146. The Court held that this right requires "not that a trial be fair, but that a particular guarantee of fairness be provided – to wit, that the accused be defended by the counsel he believes to be best." Id. Thus, "[d]eprivation of the right is 'complete' when the defendant is erroneously prevented from being represented by the lawyer he wants, regardless of the quality of the representation he received." Id. at 148. "To argue otherwise is to confuse the right to counsel of choice – which is the right to a particular lawyer regardless of comparative effectiveness – with the right to effective counsel." Id.

After a careful analysis, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> precluded the trial court from considering the likelihood of "identifiable prejudice to the defendant's case of a material or substantial nature" or whether the "defendant had some legitimate cause for dissatisfaction with counsel." Slip Op. at 17. Both require an inquiry into the quality of representation provided to the defendant, which is irrelevant to an analysis of the right to counsel of choice. Thus, the second and fourth factors in the <u>Roth</u> test are invalid pursuant to <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>. Id.

The Court of Appeals determined that the trial court abused its discretion when it relied on the Roth factors precluded by Gonzalez-Lopez. Slip Op. at 21. Mr. Hampton's case had been continued only once, upon the request of both parties. CP 99; Slip Op. at 17. At the very next hearing, which was the trial call hearing, Mr. Hampton requested a continuance to allow his newly-retained attorney time to prepare. At that point, less than four months had passed since arraignment. CP 100; Slip Op. at 19. Although Mr. Hampton's retained attorney indicated she would need additional time to prepare, the trial court never inquired about how much time she would need.

Instead, the court primarily relied on the prejudice factors endorsed by Roth. The trial court noted Mr. Hampton's dissatisfaction with his appointed counsel but minimized its importance, finding that such dissatisfaction was common. 8/31/12 RP 7-8. It found that appointed counsel was a highly qualified attorney who was capable of zealously representing his client and denied the motion to continue. Id.; Slip Op. at 18. Because the trial court relied heavily, if not solely, on the factors precluded by controlling United States Supreme Court precedent to deny Mr. Hampton's request for a continuance, the Court of Appeals reversed. Slip Op. at 21.

The evolution of the Court of Appeals' understanding of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice creates no "confusion" for the trial courts or "conflict" between the Divisions. Indeed, it is hard to imagine how the law could be clearer. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

b. The Court of Appeals' reasoning under *Gonzalez-Lopez* is sound and does not raise a significant constitutional question.

The State argues the Court of Appeals' reasoning is "faulty" because the facts of Gonzalez-Lopez did not involve a request for a continuance and the question at issue was whether a trial court's erroneous deprivation of counsel of choice is structural error. 548 U.S. at 142. It attempts to draw a distinction using Gonzalez-Lopez and Unger v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575, 84 S.Ct. 841, 11 L.Ed.2d 921 (1964), arguing that *only after* it has been established that a defendant was erroneously denied his right to counsel of choice should the court examine that Sixth Amendment right as articulated by Gonzalez-Lopez. In other words, the State is urging this Court to accept review in order to hold that although the United States Supreme Court has clearly stated that the right at stake is the right to counsel of choice, not the right to a fair trial, Washington courts should

examine whether a defendant will receive a fair trial, i.e. effective assistance of counsel, when considering a defendant's right to counsel of choice.

Despite the State's assertion, <u>Unger</u> offers no support for this illogical proposition. In <u>Unger</u>, a lawyer and recalcitrant witness for the prosecution was charged with willful and disruptive contempt of court. 375 U.S. at 581. Mr. Unger appeared with counsel for the showcause hearing and the court granted him two continuances to allow another lawyer to appear. <u>Id</u>. at 590. When Mr. Unger's substitute counsel finally appeared in court, his request for a third continuance was denied. <u>Id</u>. The Court upheld the lower court's denial of this motion to continue, finding that Mr. Unger had been given sufficient time to hire counsel who could be prepared, particularly given the limited scope of the hearing and Mr. Unger's understanding of the legal system as a lawyer himself. <u>Id</u>. at 590. Mr. Unger ultimately appeared at the hearing pro se, and no consideration was given to whether Mr. Unger could effectively represent himself or whether the lawyer Mr. Unger first appeared with could have provided effective representation.

Nonetheless, the State asserts that <u>Unger</u> is instructive because the Court's inquiry was whether the lower court's decision "denied petitioner due process." <u>Id</u>. It claims that <u>Unger</u> requires courts to evaluate whether a defendant has been erroneously denied the right to counsel of choice under

Unger did not carefully consider the Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice because such an analysis was unnecessary for its decision. As the Court acknowledged in <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, trial courts have always been afforded wide latitude in balancing the right to counsel of choice against the demands of the court calendar. 548 U.S. at 152. The <u>Unger</u> Court found that the trial court had properly denied the continuance given the nature of the hearing and the prior continuances granted to the petitioner. 376 U.S. at 590. This finding is not disturbed by <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u>.

Instead, <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> specifically warns against what the State suggests this Court should consider: reading the Sixth Amendment "as a more detailed version of the Due Process Clause – and then [proceeding] to give no effect to the details." 548 U.S. at 145. As <u>Gonzalez-Lopez</u> explains:

It is true enough that the purpose of the rights set forth in [the Sixth] Amendment is to ensure a fair trial; but it does not follow that the rights can be disregarded so long as the trial is, on the whole, fair. What the Government urges upon us here is what was urged upon us... with regard to the Sixth Amendment's right of confrontation – a line of reasoning that 'abstracts from the right to its purposes, and then eliminates the right.'

Id. (quoting Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 862, 110 S.Ct. 3157, 111 L.Ed.2d 666 (1990)).

Thus, the State's argument that the Court of Appeals' reasoning is flawed "because it bypasses the Due Process analysis previously employed by the Supreme Court and numerous other courts which have considered the competition between a defendant's interest in his right to counsel of choice and the court's interest in the fair and orderly administration of justice," is misleading on two counts. See Petition for Review at 12. First, because Gonzalez-Lopez specifically addressed, and rejected, this suggestion, and second, because nothing in Gonzalez-Lopez or the Court of Appeals' decision here prevents a trial court from balancing a defendant's right to counsel of choice against the demands of the court's schedule or issues of unfair delay. Such concerns, as both the trial court and the Court of Appeals noted, were simply not present in the facts of Mr. Hampton's case. Review should not be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

c. This issue is not one of substantial public interest.

The State claims that because the decision imposes a restriction on what the trial court may consider when evaluating a motion to continue in

³ The State also cites Miller v. Blacketter, 525 F.3d 890 (9th Cir. 2008), as an example where a court considered the defendant's dissatisfaction with his current counsel when reviewing a trial court's denial of a continuance to allow the defendant to seek private counsel. In Miller, the court only mentioned the defendant's satisfaction with his appointed counsel in regards to the possibility of an irreconcilable conflict, which would warrant substitution of assigned counsel. 525 F.3d at 897. A defendant's right to counsel free of any conflict of interest is a different issue than a defendant's right to his counsel of choice.

order to allow a defendant to exercise his right to counsel of choice, it invites abuse of the justice system. Petition for Review at 13. It argues that if a trial court is unable to examine a defendant's reason for seeking new counsel and consider whether the defendant would be prejudiced by denying the motion, "there is nothing that would inhibit a defendant from seeking new counsel at the last minute solely for the purpose of delay." <u>Id</u>. This assertion is plainly incorrect.

First, it misapprehends a defendant's right to counsel of choice, which is the right to be represented by the counsel of one's choosing, regardless of the reasoning behind the preference. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 148. Second, a trial court's "wide latitude in balancing the right to counsel of choice against the needs of fairness and against the demands of its calendar" is far from "nothing" preventing a defendant from seeking new counsel shortly before the trial date. See id. at 152. The court remains free to consider a number of factors when a defendant requests a continuance to obtain his counsel of choice. It simply may not consider whether the

⁴ The State once again cites to <u>Miller</u>, suggesting that the court in <u>Miller</u> denied the defendant's motion to continue in a case factually similar to Mr. Hampton's. However, it omits the crucial fact that in Mr. Hampton's case, unlike in <u>Miller</u> and so many other cases where defendants request a continuance to exercise the right to counsel of choice, private counsel had already been retained and appeared in court to argue the motion. 525 F.3d at 896.

defendant will be prejudiced should he proceed to trial with his current counsel.

The State claims that a fair reading of the record in Mr. Hampton's case is that he waited to move for substitution of counsel in order to delay his trial and gain further time to talk the alleged victim out of testifying. Petition for Review at 14. This assertion is misleading, because as the Court of Appeals noted, the record does not support this inference. Slip Op. at 20. Although the State mentioned the complaining witness was being pressured not to cooperate, no evidence of this was presented, and the State summarized the State's position as being that "nobody is really going to have a whole of complaint about that whatever you decide." 8/31/12 RP 7. Thus, contrary to the State's claim, the record does not support a conclusion that Mr. Hampton's request "was a ploy to buy more time to see if the victim would ultimately refuse to cooperate." See Petition for Review at 14.

However, even if the record did support such an inference, the State's conclusion that the Court of Appeals' decision somehow precludes the court's consideration of such evidence is incorrect. The court's decision prevents a trial court from considering whether the defendant has a legitimate cause of dissatisfaction with his counsel or whether the denial of the continuance motion is likely to result in identifiable prejudice to the

defendant. Slip Op. at 13. It does not prevent a court from considering whether the defendant is seeking a continuance merely to gain an advantage by delaying trial. The State's claim to the contrary is without merit. This Court should not grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. There was insufficient evidence that Mr. Hampton committed only the inferior degree crime of third degree rape.

After filing an amended information at the start of trial, the State proceeded against Mr. Hampton solely on the charge of rape in the second degree, alleging that sexual intercourse occurred when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. 9/5/12 RP 35; CP 70, 83. After the close of evidence, the State moved for an additional jury instruction on rape in the third degree. 9/7/12 RP 240.

Rape in the third degree is not a lesser included offense of rape in the second degree because each element of third degree rape is not necessarily an element of second degree rape. State v. Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. 746, 752, 899 P.2d 16 (1995). Third degree rape requires that the alleged victim not be married to the perpetrator and that the alleged victim clearly express a lack of consent by words or conduct. Id. These elements are not required in order to prove a charge of second degree rape. In this case, to succeed on a charge of second degree rape, the State was required to prove that the sexual intercourse occurred when A.B. was incapable of

consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. CP 70, 83.

In order to instruct on an inferior degree offense, the evidence must support an inference that *only* the inferior degree crime was committed.

State v. Wright, 152 Wn. App. 64, 71, 214 P.3d 968 (2009); State v. Corey, 181 Wn. App. 272, 276, 325 P.3d 250 (2014). Interpreted too literally, this test would be redundant and unnecessary, as all jury instructions must be supported by sufficient evidence. State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). This test therefore requires a factual showing more particularized than that required for other jury instructions. Id. at 455. It is not enough that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence supporting the charged crime. Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. at 755; Fernandez-Medina, at 141 Wn.2d at 456. "The evidence must support an inference that the defendant committed the lesser offense *instead of* the greater one." Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. at 755 (emphasis original) (citing State v. Bergeson, 64 Wn. App. 366, 369, 824 P.2d 515 (1992)).

At trial, the State alleged Mr. Hampton was guilty of second degree rape because he engaged in sexual intercourse with A.B. when A.B. was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. CP 70, 83. The state of sleep is universally understood as unconsciousness or a physical inability to communicate unwillingness to

engage in an act. State v. Puapuaga, 54 Wn. App. 857, 861, 776 P.2d 170 (1989).

A.B. testified that she was drinking the night of the alleged incident, and eventually went into the bathroom to vomit. 9/6/12 RP 58. At some point after returning from the bathroom, she testified that she laid down on a chair in the garage and "fell asleep right away." 9/6/12 RP 65. She stated that she started to wake up when Mr. Hampton "jerked" her pants off, but that after removing one pant leg, Mr. Hampton immediately put his fingers inside of her body. 9/6/12 RP 67-68. She testified that "[h]e had one finger inside of me... I was just waking up." 9/6/12 RP 67.

When the State asked additional clarifying questions, A.B. said that Mr. Hampton's fingers were already inside of her by the time she said "no" or "stop" because she was just waking up. 9/6/12 RP 70. It was only after his fingers were inside her body, and she heard Mr. Hampton's voice, that she became fully awake. 9/6/12 RP 66, 69-70. Prior to that she did not have any conscious thoughts because she was "just waking up." 9/6/12 RP 70.

A.B.'s testimony remained consistent under cross-examination.

She testified that she was aware that Mr. Hampton inserted his fingers into her body but that she was just waking up. 9/6/12 RP 118. When questioned about the specific sequence of events, she testified that she was unsure

because she was "waking up and [she] was shocked, confused." 9/6/12 RP 123-24.

Although Washington courts have considered a trial court's instruction on the lesser degree crime of third degree rape when the use of force of issue, these cases have not examined when it is appropriate to instruct on third degree rape when the State has alleged the complaining witness was incapable of consent by reason of being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated. See Corey, 181 Wn. App. at 277; Wright, 152 Wn. App. at 71-72; State v. Charles, 126 Wn.2d 353, 355-56, 894 P.2d 558 (1995); Ieremia, 78 Wn. App. at 755-56. Here, the State's evidence did not suggest Mr. Hampton committed third degree rape to the exclusion of second degree rape, as A.B. repeatedly testified that she was not fully conscious when the alleged rape occurred. This Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

The State has failed to satisfy the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and its petition for review should be denied. If this Court grants review, it should also review whether the evidence presented at trial permitted an instruction on the lesser degree crime of third degree rape.